FILED 12-14-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

Appeal No. 2020AP1756

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

ROMAN T. WISE

 $Defendant\hbox{-}Appellant\hbox{-}Petitioner$

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE, AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARK A. SANDERS AND STEPHANIE G. ROTHSTEIN PRESIDING.

PETITION FOR REVIEW AND APPENDIX

ZALESKI LAW FIRM Steven W. Zaleski State Bar No. 1034597 10 E. Doty St., Ste. 800 Madison, WI 53703 608-441-5199 (Telephone) Zaleski@Ticon.net Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

STATEMENT OF ISSUES
CRITERIA FOR REVIEW
STATEMENT OF CASE
STATEMENT OF FACTS4
ARGUMENT
Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to seek dismissal of three counts of fleeing under Wis. Stat. Sec. 346.04(3) on grounds that such charges were multiplicitous
A. Standard of review
B. Legal principles regarding double jeopardy and multiplicitous charges
C. Principles of statutory construction11
D. The four counts of fleeing/eluding were identical in law and fact
E. Even if the offenses were not identical in law and in fact, multiple punishments are not authorized under a Tappa analysis
F. Trial counsel's failure to seek dismissal of Counts Two, Three and Four was deficient and prejudicial38
CONCLUSION39
CERTIFICATIONS
APPENDIX

Case 2020AP001756 Petition for Review Filed 12-14-2021 Page 3 of 45

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Did Wise receive ineffective assistance of counsel where trial counsel failed to seek dismissal of three counts of fleeing under Wis. Stat. Sec. 346.04(3) on grounds that such charges were multiplicitous?

In a decision recommended for publication, the court of appeals determined that the charges against Wise were not multiplications under *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299 (1932), and that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to seek dismissal on such grounds. Ap.1-16.

CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

Review is warranted under Rule 809.62(1r)(a) because the case presents a real and significant question of state and federal constitutional law.

Review is also warranted under Rule 809.62(1r)(d) because the court of appeals decision is in conflict with this court's Case 2020AP001756 Petition for Review Filed 12-14-2021 Page 4 of 45

decision in *State v. Beamon*, 2013 WI 47, 347 Wis.2d 559, 830 N.W.2d 861.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In Milwaukee County Case No. 18CF2885, the State charged Wise with four counts of fleeing under Wis. Stat. Sec. 346.04(3). 4:1-4, 6:1-2, Ap.21-22. Count One alleged fleeing that resulted in death, Count Two alleged fleeing that resulted in great bodily harm, and Counts Three and Four alleged fleeing that resulted in damage to property. Ap.21-22.

The complaint alleged that around 7:00 p.m. on December 27, 2017, in the City of Milwaukee, Wise fled from officers while driving a Lexus that had been taken by force in a robbery earlier in the day. Ap.18. The complaint alleged that after leading officers on a high speed chase, during which Wise allegedly drove the Lexus without headlights and in the wrong lane of traffic, Wise ran a red light at the intersection of Fond du Lac Avenue and Locust Street, and collided with two other cars, a Toyota

Case 2020AP001756 Petition for Review Filed 12-14-2021 Page 5 of 45

RAV4 operated by CW, and a Chevrolet Monte Carlo operated by CD. Ap.19. The complaint alleged that officers apprehended Wise as he was "crawling out the driver's side of the rear windshield." Ap.19. The complaint alleged that also inside the car was an unconscious juvenile female, QLH, and an unconscious and unresponsive male, QRD. Ap.19. The complaint alleged that QLH was taken to the hospital and treated for a spinal fracture, pelvic fracture, and lacerations to the liver, spleen and kidney. Ap.19. The complaint alleged that QRD was also taken to the hospital where he died. Ap.19.

After various pre-trial proceedings, the case proceeded to a jury trial during which the jury found Wise guilty of all charges.

At sentencing, the circuit court imposed the following sentences:

Count One: 7 years initial confinement/5 years extended supervision;

Count Two: 4 years initial confinement/2 years extended supervision;

Count Three: 1 year confinement/1 year extended supervision;

Case 2020AP001756 Petition for Review Filed 12-14-2021 Page 6 of 45

Count Four: 1 year confinement/1 year extended supervision. 116:37-38.

The court ordered that the sentences on Counts One, Two, and Three run consecutively. 116:37-38.

Wise timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. 79:1-2. By and through counsel, Wise then filed a motion to vacate the judgment of conviction and sentence as to counts two, three and four. 91:1-18. The circuit court denied the motion without a hearing. Ap.26-30. Wise appealed and the court of appeals affirmed. These proceedings follow.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

As to Count one, the information alleged as follows:

The above-named defendant on or about Sunday, December 17, 2017, at 3100 West Locust Street, in the City of Milwaukee, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin, while operating a motor vehicle on a highway, after having received a visual or audible signal from a marked police vehicle, did knowingly flee or attempt to elude a traffic officer by increasing the speed of the vehicle in an attempt to flee, resulting in the death of QRD, contrary to sec. 346.04(3) and 346.17(3)(d), 939.50(3)(e) Wis. Stats.

Upon conviction for this offense, a Class E Felony, the defendant may be fined nor more than Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000) or imprisoned not more than fifteen (15) years or both. Ap.21.

Case 2020AP001756 Petition for Review Filed 12-14-2021 Page 7 of 45

As to Count Two, the information alleged as follows:

The above-named defendant on or about Sunday, December 17, 2017, at 3100 West Locust Street, in the City of Milwaukee, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin, while operating a motor vehicle on a highway, after having received a visual or audible signal from a marked police vehicle, did knowingly flee or attempt to elude a traffic officer by increasing the speed of the vehicle in an attempt to flee, resulting in great bodily harm to QLH, contrary to sec. 346.04(3) and 346.17(3)(c), 939.50(3)(f) Wis. Stats.

Upon conviction for this offense, a Class F Felony, the defendant may be fined nor more than Twenty Five Thousand Dollars (\$25,000) or imprisoned not more than twelve (12) and six (6) months or both. Ap.21.

As to Count Three, the information alleged as follows:

The above-named defendant on or about Sunday, December 17, 2017, at 3100 West Locust Street, in the City of Milwaukee, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin, while operating a motor vehicle on a highway, after having received a visual or audible signal from a marked police vehicle, did knowingly flee or attempt to elude a traffic officer by increasing the speed of the vehicle in an attempt to flee, causing damage to the property of CW, contrary to sec. 346.04(3) and 346.17(3)(b), 939.50(3)(h) Wis. Stats.

Upon conviction for this offense, a Class H Felony, the defendant may be fined nor more than Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000) or imprisoned not more than six (6) years or both. Ap.22.

As to Count Four, the information alleged as follows:

The above-named defendant on or about Sunday, December 17, 2017, at 3100 West Locust Street, in the City of Milwaukee, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin, while operating a motor vehicle on a highway, after having received a visual or audible signal from a marked police vehicle, did knowingly flee or attempt to elude a traffic officer by increasing the speed of the vehicle in an attempt to flee, causing damage to the property of CD, contrary to sec. 346.04(3) and 346.17(3)(b), 939.50(3)(h) Wis. Stats.

Case 2020AP001756 Petition for Review Filed 12-14-2021 Page 8 of 45

Upon conviction for this offense, a Class H Felony, the defendant may be fined nor more than Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000) or imprisoned not more than six (6) years or both. Ap.22.

Motion to vacate judgments of conviction and sentence

Wise's postconviction motion asserted that the circuit court "should vacate the judgment of conviction and sentence as to Counts Two, Three and Four, because Wise received ineffective assistance of counsel in that trial counsel failed to seek dismissal of these counts on grounds that such charges were multiplicitous" and in violation of his right against double jeopardy and to due process protections. 91:2.

Circuit court and court of appeals decisions

The circuit court denied Wise's postconviction motion without a hearing, and the court of appeals affirmed. Ap.30,16.

Case 2020AP001756 Petition for Review Filed 12-14-2021 Page 9 of 45

ARGUMENT

Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to seek dismissal of three counts of fleeing under Wis. Stat. Sec. 346.04(3) on grounds that such charges were multiplicitous.

A. Standard of review.

Criminal defendants are constitutionally guaranteed the right to counsel under both the United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Wis. Const. art. I, § 7. The right to counsel includes the right to effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984) (citing *McMann v. Richardson*, 397 U.S. 759, 771 n.14 (1970)); *State v. Trawitzki*, 2001 WI 77, ¶39, 244 Wis.2d 523, 628 N.W.2d 801.

In order to find that counsel rendered ineffective assistance, the defendant must show that trial counsel's representation was deficient. *Strickland*, 446 U.S. at 687. The defendant must also show that he or she was prejudiced by the deficient performance. *Id.* Counsel's conduct is constitutionally deficient if it falls below an objective standard of reasonableness.

Case 2020AP001756 Petition for Review Filed 12-14-2021 Page 10 of 45

Id. at 688. When evaluating counsel's performance, courts are to be "highly deferential" and must avoid the "distorting effects of hindsight." Id. at 689. "Counsel need not be perfect, indeed not even very good, to be constitutionally adequate." State v. Williquette, 180 Wis.2d 589, 605, 510 N.W.2d 708 (1993).

In order to demonstrate that counsel's deficient performance is constitutionally prejudicial, the defendant must show that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. The focus of this inquiry is not on the outcome of the trial, but on "the reliability of the proceedings." State v. Pitsch, 124 Wis.2d 628, 642, N.W.2d 711 (1985). A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact. Trawitzki, 244 Wis.2d 523, ¶19. This court will uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* Findings of Case 2020AP001756 Petition for Review Filed 12-14-2021 Page 11 of 45

fact include "the circumstances of the case and the counsel's conduct and strategy." *State v. Knight*, 168 Wis.2d 509, 514 n.2, 484 N.W.2d 540 (1992). Whether counsel's performance satisfies the constitutional standard for ineffective assistance of counsel is a question of law, which we review de novo. *Id*.

B. Legal principles regarding double jeopardy and multiplicitous charges.

The Wisconsin Constitution provides that "no person for the same offense may be put twice in jeopardy of punishment...." Wis. Const. art. I, §8(1). The United States Constitution similarly provides, "nor shall any person be subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb...." U.S. Const. amend. V.

Claims are multiplications when the State charges a defendant more than once for the same offense. See *State v. Brantner*, 2020 WI 21, ¶24, 390 Wis.2d 494, 939 N.W.2d 546. Such charges violate our state and federal constitutions because they place the defendant in jeopardy of multiple convictions for the same offense. *Id.* Multiplicity claims are reviewed according to a well-established two-pronged methodology. *Id.* at ¶25. First,

Case 2020AP001756 Petition for Review Filed 12-14-2021 Page 12 of 45

the court employs the "elements-only" test to determine whether the offenses are identical in both law and fact. Id. citing Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 304 (1932); see also, State v. Ziegler, 2012 WI 73, ¶60, 342 Wis.2d 256, 816 N.W.2d 838, State v. Davison, 2003 WI 89, ¶21, 263 Wis.2d 145, 666 N.W.2d 1, and *State v. Rabe*, 96 Wis.2d 48, 64, 291 N.W.2d 809 (1980). The result of this step determines whether the court will presume, in the second step of the analysis, that the statutes provide for cumulative punishment. Id. If the offenses are identical in law and fact, the court presumes "that the legislature did not intend to permit multiple punishments." See id. "The State may rebut that presumption only by a clear indication of contrary legislative intent." *Id.* If the offenses differ in law or fact, then they are not the "same" for double jeopardy purposes, and the court presumes that the statutes allow for cumulative punishment. Id. The defendant can overcome the presumption if he can prove that, notwithstanding the separate offenses, "the legislature did not intend to authorize cumulative punishments."

Case 2020AP001756 Petition for Review Filed 12-14-2021 Page 13 of 45

See *id.* If it did not, then there has been a due process violation as opposed to a double jeopardy violation. See *id.* Four factors are relevant to determining legislative intent: (1) the language of the statute; (2) the legislative history and context of the statute; (3) the nature of the proscribed conduct; and (4) the appropriateness of multiple punishment for the conduct. *State v. Tappa*, 127 Wis.2d 155, 161, 378 N.W.2d 883, 885 (1985).

C. Principles of statutory construction.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has stated that statutory interpretation "begins with the language of the statute," and "[i]f the meaning of the statute is plain, we ordinarily stop the inquiry." See *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis.2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. However, if the supreme court has addressed the interpretation of a statute or predecessor statute, that controlling authority must be followed or distinguished. See *Hart v. Artisan and Truckers*

Case 2020AP001756 Petition for Review Filed 12-14-2021 Page 14 of 45

Casualty Company, 2017 WI App 45, ¶16, 377 Wis.2d 177, 900 N.W.2d 610.

D. The four counts of fleeing/eluding were identical in law and fact.

In affirming the circuit court's denial of Wise's postconviction motion, the court of appeals determined that the charges against Wise were not the same in law or fact under the *Blockburger* test. See Ap.12-13. In particular, the court of appeals reasoned that that the charges involved proof of different elements and facts. See Ap.7,9,11. Wise respectfully maintains that the court's reasoning in this regard relied upon a faulty interpretation of Sec. 346.04(3), State v. Beamon, and WIS JI-CRIMINAL 2630, the standard jury instruction pertaining to the offense of fleeing or attempting to elude an officer.

Wis. Stat. Sec. 346.04(3) provides as follows:

No operator of a vehicle, after having received a visual or audible signal from a traffic officer, federal law enforcement officer, or marked or unmarked police vehicle that the operator knows or reasonably should know is being operated by a law enforcement officer, shall knowingly flee or attempt to elude any officer by willful or wanton disregard of such signal so as to interfere with or endanger the operation of the police vehicle, the traffic

Case 2020AP001756 Petition for Review Filed 12-14-2021 Page 15 of 45

officer, the law enforcement officer, other vehicles, or pedestrians, nor shall the operator increase the speed of the operator's vehicle or extinguish the lights of the vehicle in an attempt to elude or flee.

Wis. Stat. Sec. 346.04(3).

Under the plain language of Sec. 346.04(3), a person commits a violation of the statute where, after having received a visual or audible signal from a (law enforcement officer) he or she knowingly flees or attempts to elude the officer by willful or wanton disregard of such signal so as to interfere with or endanger the operation of the police vehicle, the traffic officer, the law enforcement officer, other vehicles, or pedestrians, or by increasing the speed of the operator's vehicle or extinguishing the lights of the vehicle in an attempt to elude or flee. The plain language of the statute does not require anything more. It specifically does not require that certain damage or injury occur. The statute is entirely silent as to damage or injury that may result from the person's fleeing. In this regard, the plain language of the statute informs that whether the person's fleeing Case 2020AP001756 Petition for Review Filed 12-14-2021 Page 16 of 45

caused death, great bodily harm, bodily harm or property damage is not an element of the offense.

Authority from this court interpreting Sec. 346.04(3) supports this plain reading of the statute. The court in State v. Beamon clarified that an offense under Sec. 346.04(3) has only two elements. See State v. Beamon, 2013 WI 47 at ¶31. The first element is that a person received a visual or audible signal from an officer. Id. at ¶31; see also, State v. Sterzinger, 2002 WI App 171, ¶9, 256 Wis.2d 925, 649 N.W.2d 677. The second element is that person knowingly fled or attempted to elude the officer after he received the signal. Id. This second element can be satisfied in three ways. First, fleeing or attempting to elude may be established by proof that the person acted with wilful or wanton disregard of the visual or audible signal so as to interfere with or endanger the officer, vehicles or pedestrians; second, fleeing or attempting to elude may be established by proof that the person increased his speed; or third, fleeing or attempting to elude may Case 2020AP001756 Petition for Review Filed 12-14-2021 Page 17 of 45

be established by proof that the person extinguished the lights of his or her vehicle. See *State v. Beamon*, 2013 WI 47 at ¶31.

Wise is unaware of any decision by this court which interprets Sec. 346.04(3) to provide for any elements beyond the two elements discussed in *Beamon*. Wise is unaware of any decision which holds that the fact that the fleeing caused death, great bodily harm, or property damage is an element of the substantive offense.

The pattern jury instruction supports the interpretation that an offense under Sec. 346.04(3) has only two elements. The elements of an offense under Sec. 346.04(3) are set forth in WIS JI-CRIMINAL 2630 which provides in relevant part as follows:

Before you may find the defendant guilty of this offense, the State must prove by evidence which satisfies you beyond a reasonable doubt that the following two elements were present.

The first element requires that the defendant operated a motor vehicle on a highway after receiving a (visual)(audible) signal from a (traffic officer)(marked police vehicle). ("Traffic officer" means every officer authorized by law to direct or regulate traffic or to make arrests for violation of traffic regulations.)

Case 2020AP001756 Petition for Review Filed 12-14-2021 Page 18 of 45

The second element requires that the defendant knowingly (fled)(attempted to elude) a traffic officer

[by wilful disregard of the visual or audible signal so as to (interfere with)(endanger)(the operation of the police vehicle)(the traffic officer)(other vehicles)(pedestrians).

[by increasing the speed of the vehicle (in an attempt to elude)(to flee)].

[by extinguishing the lights of the vehicle (in an attempt to elude)(to flee)].

If you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant operated a motor vehicle on a highway after receiving a (visual)(audible) signal from (the traffic officer)(marked police vehicle) and knowingly (fled)(attempted to elude) a traffic officer

[by wilful disregard of the visual or audible signal so as to (interfere with)(endanger)(the operation of the police vehicle)(the traffic officer)(other vehicles)(pedestrians),

[by increasing the speed of the vehicle (in an attempt to elude)(to flee)],

[by extinguishing the lights of the vehicle (in an attempt to elude)(to flee)], you should find the defendant guilty.

If you are not so satisfied, you must find the defendant not guilty.

Case 2020AP001756 Petition for Review Filed 12-14-2021 Page 19 of 45

[ADD THE FOLLOWING IF ONE OF THE MORE SERIOUS

OFFENSES IDENTIFIED IN SEC. 346.17(3)(b),(c), or (d) IS CHARGED

AND THE EVIDENCE WOULD SUPPORT A FINDING THAT THE FACT

INCREASING THE PENALTY WAS PRESENT:]

[If you find the defendant guilty, you must answer the following question:

"Did the defendant's operating a vehicle (to flee)(in an attempt to elude) an officer result in (bodily harm to)(damage to the property of)(great bodily harm to)(death to) another?"

WIS JI-CRIMINAL 2630.

It follows then, that under the plain language of the statute, supreme court authority, and the applicable pattern jury instruction, the four offenses charged against Wise were identical in both law and fact.

Different facts distinguish one count from another when the counts are charged under the same statute. *State v. Ziegler, 2012 WI 73* at ¶61. Offenses are identical in law "if one offense does not require proof of any fact in addition to those which must be proved for the other offense." See *id.* at ¶60. Offenses are identical in fact unless they are "separated in time or are of a

Case 2020AP001756 Petition for Review Filed 12-14-2021 Page 20 of 45

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