Case 2020AP001756

**FILED** 01-25-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

# IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2020AP1756-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff -Respondent,

v.

ROMAN T. WISE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

#### RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2796 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) kumferle@doj.state.wi.us

#

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

#### ARGUMENT

The State does not dispute that this case involves both a federal constitutional issue and a question of statutory

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$   $State\ v.\ Machner,\ 92$  Wis. 2d 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

interpretation. But the court of appeals properly resolved both issues by simply applying long-standing law from this Court to the facts of the case. Wise's trial counsel cannot have been ineffective for failing to mount a meritless challenge to Wise's charges.

Accordingly, there is nothing novel here and nothing for this Court to clarify or develop, thus this case does not meet this Court's criteria for review.

A. The court of appeals properly held that three of Wise's charges were different in law because Wis. Stat. § 346.17(3) plainly adds elements to the base crime of fleeing an officer as defined in Wis. Stat. § 346.04(3).

Wise contends that Wis. Stat. § 346.04(3) alone defines the crime of fleeing an officer, and consequently all four of his convictions are the same in law because that statute describes only two elements to the offense: receiving a signal from a law enforcement officer and then attempting to flee or elude that officer. (Pet. 14–17.) But, as the court of appeals correctly recognized, Wise makes no attempt to reconcile that language with the language of the various subsections of Wis. Stat. § 346.17(3), which clearly add elements to the base crime of fleeing and designates fleeing causing different types of harm as different felonies with their own specific felony classification. (Pet. 14–32.)

Statutes are not interpreted in isolation, meaning Wise's argument focusing solely on the language of Wis. Stat. § 346.04(3) fails. *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 46, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. The statutory scheme and plain language of Wis. Stat. §§ 346.04(3) and 346.17(3), properly read in conjunction, show that Wise's charges were different in law. Wise's charges for

counts one, two, and three, and counts one, two, and four,<sup>2</sup> each have an element that the others do not: the degree of harm caused by Wise's fleeing police. Accordingly, his convictions cannot amount to a double jeopardy violation even though they all arise from Wise's single act of crashing the SUV while fleeing.<sup>3</sup>

Wise claims that Wis. Stat. § 346.17(3) simply imposes penalty enhancers for escalating harms resulting from violating Wis. Stat. § 346.04(3) and that the only two elements for fleeing an officer are receiving a signal to stop and failing to do so. (Pet. 14–30.) He says this result is required by the jury instruction for fleeing. (Pet. 14–30.) The statutory language and long-standing case law plainly show that the court of appeals properly rejected this argument.

Wisconsin Stat. §§ 346.04 through 346.16 set forth rules for operating vehicles on Wisconsin roadways. Wisconsin Stat. § 346.04 mandates that people comply with official traffic signals and obey any lawful order, signal, or direction of a traffic officer. The State does not dispute that the simple

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Counts three and four are the same in law because they both charged Wise with fleeing police causing property damage. However, as explained below, they were different in fact because each named a different victim.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The State acknowledges that this analysis does not dispose of the legal relationship between counts three and four, Wise's two convictions for fleeing causing property damage to CW and CD by destroying their vehicles in the crash. (R. 6:2.) Those two charges are the same in law because they are both convictions for violations of Wis. Stat. §§ 346.04(3) and 346.17(3)(b), meaning they both have the following elements: (1) Wise operated a motor vehicle on a highway after receiving a visual or audible signal from a marked police officer; (2) Wise knowingly fled the officers by increasing the speed of the vehicle; and (3) Wise's operation of the vehicle to flee the officer caused property damage to a victim. The court of appeals properly held that these two charges are nevertheless different in fact from each other, however, and the State will discuss them in the next subsection.

act of fleeing, as defined in Wis. Stat. § 346.04(3), has two elements: (1) operating a vehicle on a highway after receiving a visual or audible signal from a law enforcement officer; and (2) knowingly fleeing from or attempting to elude the officer. There are no felony classifications or other criminal penalties described in Wis. Stat. § 346.04 itself, nor in any of the other rules of the road set forth in Wis. Stat. §§ 346.05 through 346.16.

Instead, criminal penalties for violating sections 346.04 through 346.16 are found in Wis. Stat. § 346.17. Subsection (3) addresses violations of Wis. Stat. § 346.04 and provides:

- (a) Except as provided in par. (b), (c), or (d), any person violating s. 346.04(3) is guilty of a Class I felony.
- (b) If the violation results in bodily harm, as defined in s. 939.22(4), to another, or causes damage to the property of another, as defined in s. 939.22(28), the person is guilty of a Class H felony.
- (c) If the violation results in great bodily harm, as defined in s. 939.22(14), to another, the person is guilty of a Class F felony.
- (d) If the violation results in the death of another, the person is guilty of a Class E felony.

Wis. Stat. § 346.17(3).

So, the simple act of fleeing by performing the two elements described in Wis. Stat. § 346.04(3) alone is itself a Class I felony pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 346.17(3)(a). Subsections (b) through (d) of Wis. Stat. § 346.17(3), however, then incorporate that baseline definition of fleeing articulated in Wis. Stat. § 346.04(3) and each add a third, distinct element of causing a particular type of harm, as defined in the criminal statutes, to that baseline definition to create a new crime. This is evident not only by the plain language of the subsections, but by the fact that subsections (b) through (d)

change the felony classification for fleeing depending on the additional element present. Wis. Stat. § 346.17(3)(b)–(d). This means each of these subsections defines a distinct crime that is different in law than the others, because they each have an element the others do not: the type of harm caused.

Further supporting this interpretation is the fact that there is no penalty designated in subsections (b) through (d) that can be added to the Class I felony penalty designated in subsection (a) for the act of fleeing causing no harm. One cannot "add" a separate Class H felony for fleeing causing bodily harm to the penalty for the Class I felony of fleeing causing no harm. Nor could multiple additional felony classifications for causing multiple deaths or injuries be added to the penalty for a Class I felony for a single conviction for violation of Wis. Stat. §§ 346.04 and 346.17(3)(a) causing no harm. Accordingly, Wis. Stat. § 346.17(3)(b)–(d) define stand-alone crimes rather than penalty enhancers. Wise's charges for counts one and two are legally different from each other and from counts three and four, and therefore he was charged with and convicted of three different substantive, stand-alone crimes.

The court of appeals reached a similar conclusion on nearly identical facts when discussing Wis. Stat. § 943.10 (1997–98), the burglary statute, in *State v. Beasley*, 2004 WI App 42, 271 Wis. 2d 469, 678 N.W.2d 600, which this Court has long endorsed. There, the court of appeals held that subsection (1) of the burglary statute first defined the basic crime of burglary as entering a place without consent of the lawful possessor and with intent to steal or commit a felony, and designated it a Class C felony. *Id.* ¶ 12 (citing Wis. Stat. § 943.10(1)). Subsection (2) then stated,

Whoever violates sub. (1) under any of the following circumstances is guilty of a Class B felony:

(a) While armed with a dangerous weapon or a device or container described under s. 941.26(4)(a); or

- (b) While unarmed, but arms himself with a dangerous weapon . . . while still in the burglarized enclosure; or
- (c) While in the burglarized enclosure opens, or attempts to open, any depository by use of an explosive; or
- (d) While in the burglarized enclosure commits a battery upon a person lawfully therein.

Wis. Stat. § 943.10(2) (1997–98).

The defendant, Shawn Beasley, participated in a home invasion and fatal shooting. *Beasley*, 271 Wis. 2d 469, ¶ 2. He was tried and found guilty of seven charges related to the incident, including one for burglary with intent to steal while armed with a dangerous weapon in violation of Wis. Stat.  $\S$  943.10(2)(a) (1997–98) and one for burglary with intent to steal while committing battery upon a person lawfully in the burglarized enclosure in violation of Wis. Stat.  $\S$  943.10(2)(d) (1997–98). *Id.* ¶ 3. Like Wise, Beasley contended that his two burglary convictions were multiplicitous, arguing that the "while armed" element of count five and the "battery" element of count six were not separate crimes but were rather penalty enhancers that enhanced the same underlying Class C felony, burglary, to a Class B felony. *Id.* ¶ 4.

The court of appeals disagreed, holding that while Beasley's argument had some superficial appeal, "[a] clear-eyed review of the statutes shows that the legislature did not fashion the subsections of § 943.10(2) as penalty enhancers." Id. ¶ 13. "Penalty enhancers, such as those defined in Chapter 939, authorize specified increases to separate specified penalties for underlying crimes." Id. ¶ 14. In other words, "the underlying crime has a penalty, and the enhancer adds an additional penalty." Id. "Because of this structure, when the facts support multiple penalty enhancers, multiple enhancers may normally be applied to the same underlying crime." Id.

Case 2020AP001756

Filed 01-25-2022

But that was not the structure of Wis. Stat. § 943.10(2) (1997–98). Id. The language of the subsections of Wis. Stat. § 943.10(2) (1997–98) did not add an additional penalty to an underlying crime; they each defined a complete, stand-alone crime with its own Class B felony classification. *Id.* ¶ 15. "Further, unlike penalty enhancers, the various aggravating circumstances in the subsections of Wis. Stat. § 943.10(2) cannot be added to the underlying crime of burglary, either singly or in multiples." Id. ¶ 16.

That is nearly identical to the structure of the fleeing an officer statute at issue here, and therefore the court of appeals properly held that the *Beasley* analysis compelled the same result in this case. The subsections of Wis. Stat. § 346.17(3) define different, stand-alone crimes by adding elements to the crime of fleeing as defined by Wis. Stat. § 346.04(3), just as the subsections of Wis. Stat. § 943.10(2) (1997–98) defined different, stand-alone crimes one could commit as part of a burglary by adding elements to that offense.

Moreover, just like Wise, Beasley relied on the structure of the jury instructions and verdict forms to argue that burglary constituted the only crime and the various aggravating circumstances were penalty enhancers, and attempted to rely on the jury instructions to support his interpretation. (Pet. 21–30.) Like the instructions and verdicts at issue here, the jury verdict forms in Beasley informed the jury that it had to decide if Beasley was guilty of burglary, and if it answered yes, it then had to decide whether he committed that offense with a dangerous weapon (or committed a battery while he committed it for the other count). Beasley, 271 Wis. 2d 469, ¶ 17. The court of appeals held that the composition of the jury instructions was not germane to the statutory analysis and that Beasley's argument "really constitutes a challenge to the structure of Case 2020AP001756

Filed 01-25-2022

the jury instructions, not a challenge to the propriety of multiple convictions under the statutes." *Id.* ¶ 17.

The court of appeals further held that "[t]he result would be the same even if the form verdicts had given Beasley's jury the opportunity to find Beasley guilty of simple burglary alone," like Wise's verdict forms did here. *Id.* ¶ 19; (R. 64). This Court noted that "[i]n that situation, the verdict forms would have included two extra answers, but Beasley's jury still would have found the existence of all of the elements of the Class B felony defined in Wis. Stat. § 943.10(2)(a), and all of the elements of the separate Class B felony defined in § 943.10(2)(d)." *Beasley*, 271 Wis. 2d 469, ¶ 19. Wise's claim that the form of the jury verdicts or instructions means the Legislature did not define separate crimes in Wis. Stat. § 346.17 simply has no support in the law.

Wise acknowledges *Beasley* but utterly fails to address it. (Pet. 24–25.) Beasley, which this Court has never overruled or even called into question, indisputably controls disposition of this case and the court of appeals correctly applied it.

While it is true that the burglary statute at issue in Beasley defined the crime of simple burglary in Wis. Stat.  $\S 943.10(1)$  (1997–98) and then defined the other possible crimes involving a burglary in Wis. Stat. § 943.10(2) (1997– 98), that is not a material difference to the composition of Wis. Stat. §§ 346.04(3) and 346.17(3). The State does not dispute that the Legislature fully outlined the elements of the offense of fleeing causing no harm in Wis. Stat. § 346.04(3). As the statutory structure of all of Wis. Stat. § 346.04–.17 shows, however, the Legislature chose to establish the substantive rules of the road in Wis. Stat. §§ 346.04 through 346.16 and then assign them penalties, as well as define the other, more serious crimes that could be committed by violating them in a different statutory section, Wis. Stat. § 346.17. It then defined several different crimes of fleeing in Wis. Stat. § 346.17(3)(b)-(d).

Wise fails to explain why the fact that the Legislature's choosing to place these crimes in a separate statutory section means that the subsections of Wis. Stat. § 346.17(3)(b) through (d) don't incorporate the elements described in Wis. Stat. § 346.04(3) and then add new elements to the offense of fleeing causing no harm. Indeed, the Legislature frequently adds elements to a base crime to create a new crime in different statutory sections. The mere fact that criminal damage to property is defined in Wis. Stat. § 943.01 does not mean that none of the other ways of damaging property defined and criminalized in Wis. Stat. § 943.011–.017 are not separate crimes with different elements.

In short, the court of appeals properly interpreted Wis. Stat. § 346.17(3) in this Case. Review to simply affirm the court of appeals proper interpretation of this statute would be a waste of this Court's scarce resources.

B. The court of appeals properly held that all of Wise's charges were different in fact pursuant to this Court's holdings in *State v. Pal* and *State v. Rabe*, because each count named a different victim.

Even if there could be any real debate about whether the court of appeals properly interpreted Wis. Stat. § 346.17 here, there can be no dispute that the court of appeals properly held that each count on which Wise was charged were all different in fact because each named a different victim, and thus any multiplicity challenge would properly have been denied.

This Court has consistently held that "[i]n cases where the defendant commits one criminal act which has several victims," the different in fact test will always be met, "since the identity of the victim is an additional proof of fact in each case." *State v. Rabe*, 96 Wis. 2d 48, 67, 291 N.W.2d 809 (1980)

(citation omitted); State v. Pal, 2017 WI 44, ¶ 19, 374 Wis. 2d 759, 893 N.W.2d 848.

Accordingly, Wise's charges are all different in fact because to convict Wise on each the State had to prove that Wise harmed a different victim and prove the causal relationship between Wise's actions and the separate harm to each. See Rabe, 96 Wis. 2d at 66–67. For count one, the State had to prove that Wise's fleeing caused QRD's death; for count two, it had to prove that Wise's fleeing caused great bodily harm to QLH; for count three, it had to prove that Wise's fleeing caused damage to CW's property; and for count four, it had to prove that Wise's fleeing caused damage to CD's property. (R. 6.)

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